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Attorneys for Plaintiffs,

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA ALLIANCE OF
PUBLICLY OWNED TREATMENT WORKS,
CENTRAL VALLEY CLEAN WATER
ASSOCIATION, and BAY AREA CLEAN WATER
AGENCIES

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIAALLIANCE OF | CaseNo. 2:1¢-cv-0296(-MCE-DB
PUBLICLY OWNED TREATMENT
WORKS, CENTRAL VALLEY CLEAN
WATER ASSOCIATION, and BAY AREA SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR
CLEAN WATER AGENCIES, DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiffs,

V. (Related Case No. 2:14-cv-01513-MCE-DB
(E.D. Cal.))

UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION AGENCY:; ALEXIS
STRAUSS, ACTING REGIONAL
ADMINISTRATOR, UNITED STATES
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
AGENCY, REGION IX; and DOES 1 to 10,

Defendants.

Plaintiffs SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA ALLIANCE OF PUBLICLYOWNED
TREATMENT WORKS (“SCAP”), CENTRAL VALLEY CLEAN WATER ASSOCIATION
("CVCWA”), and BAY AREA CLEAN WATER AGENCIES (“BACWA") (collectively
referred to as “Plaintiffs”) bring this action agsi Defendant UNITED STATES
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY; Defendant ALEXISTRAUSS, ACTING
REGIONAL ADMINISTRATOR, UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTALPROTECTION
AGENCY, REGION IX; and Doe Defendants 1 to 10 (ecllvely referred to as either “USEPA
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or “Defendants”), to invalidate USEPAtra viresaction and to challenge USEPA's failures

act that violated the Federal Water Pollution Calnfct (commonly known as the “Clean Wate

Act” or “CWA”"), 33 U.S.C. 8125%t seq. and allege as follows:
l. INTRODUCTION
1. Under the CWA, USEPA has no legal ability to exct#edlauthority provided to
that agency by statute. Inthe context of wholkuet toxicity (“WET?”) testing under the Cleal
Water Act, testing methodologies cannot be useequired pursuant to guidance documents,
only by properly promulgated USEPA federal regala incorporated into 40 Code of Feders
Regulations (“C.F.R.”) Part 136 (referred to herasn‘Part 136”).See e.g.33 U.S.C.

81314(a)(2)(C) and (a)(3) (requiring informationtbe measurement and classification of wat

[0

er

guality to be revised from time to time and puldidhn the Federal Register and otherwise made

available to the publickee alscAdministrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. 8563, (c)
and 870%et seq
2. Plaintiffs are trade associations with member agsnbat own and operate

wastewater treatment plants and water reclamatamtsy often called Publicly Owned Treatmg

Works (“POTWS”), which are designed to collect areht municipal and industrial wastewater.

Many of Plaintiffs’ members operate pursuant toidfe! Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System (“NPDES”) permits under the Clean Waterigdstied by States, including California’s
State Water Resources Control Board or RegionaeiN@uality Control Boards under a
delegated federal program, or by USEPA if dischauaye to federal waters (e.g., ocean outsig
state boundaries, tribal lands). Many of these EBIpermits include WET testing and
compliance provisions.

3. USEPA has failed to comply with the CWA and excekitie statutory authority i
using, requiring the use, or allowing the use ggframulgated non-Part 136 methods and
statistical and other toxicity testing proceduresluding the Test of Significant Toxicity
(“TST"), in modified permitting and compliance piisins in relation to WET requirements.
The issuance of guidance documents without comgphyitth the CWA requirements is void

ab initio and constitutes an unlawfultra viresact. Because of these illegal actions, Plaintiffs
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members are now currently or will be imminently jgabed to the unjustifiably onerous impact
of the TST guidance. These impacts include pabytiigher costs and increased enforceme
jeopardy due to an increased frequency of “falsative” test results (namely, erroneous test
results indicating toxicity is present when in facttoxicity is present). These impacts go bey
the effects of any single permit or regulatory@cti USEPA’s actions threaten to unlawfully
affect all subsequent NPDES permits, which canrii@ereed both civilly and criminally.

(33 U.S.C. 81319.) This lawsuit is a substantivallenge taultra viresactions by USEPA.

4. USEPA's failure to act in compliance with the laag, set forth herein, constitute
final agency actions subject to judicial review anthe APA. The TST guidance, which was
subsequently used in other agency decisions affgé&tiaintiffs’ members, and the USEPA’s
failure to act to include in the TST in recent mkings constituted final agency actions “by
which rights or obligations have been determinedyacom which legal consequences will flow.”

(United States Army Corps of Engineers v. Hawkesl€0.,136 S.Ct. 1807 (201&jting

Bennett v. Speab20 U.S. 154, 117 (1997).) The new statisticalhond and related procedure$

for use in WET testing setting forth the TST (“T§Widance”) waslltra viresand in
contravention of USEPA'’s statutory authority.

5. Generally, a six-year statute of limitations applie civil actions brought against
the United States for judicial review brought puansito the APAS5 U.S.C. §8701-706)See
28 U.S.C. 82401(a). An action commenced by filngpmplaint for review of agency action is
“civil action” within the meaning of section 240)(aThe statute requires that the judicial
complaint be filed “within six years after the rigsf action first accrues.” 28 U.S.C. §2401(a)
A substantive challenge to an agency decision iallegnultra viresaction lacking statutory
authority extends the time in which a challenge m@yprought to that action by allowing a cas

within six years of the agencyapplicationof that decision to the specific challenger.

6. In this case, Plaintiffs seek a declaration thratssuing or allowing the use of the

TST guidance in NPDES permit monitoring and commerequirements, and by not including
the TST in subsequent rulemaking, USEPA has adettary to the mandates of the CWA ang

exceeded its statutory authority. As a result, BAE actions in issuing the TST guidance wa
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ultra viresand voidab initio. (28 U.S.C. §2201; Fed. R. Civ. P. 57.) Plaistifirther seek

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief to fetal continued and further injury to Plaintiffs

members and others from the unjustifiably oneraysaicts of the unpromulgated TST guidange.

(28 U.S.C. 82202; Fed. R. Civ. P. 65.)
Il. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
7. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject mattiethis action pursuant to
28 U.S.C. 81331 because this case arises unddawe. . . of the United States.” This Court

authorized to award declaratory relief pursuar28dJ.S.C. 82201 and injunctive relief pursua

is

to 28 U.S.C. 82202. This Court has the statutomyegy to review the USEPA’s agency actiong at

issue pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 88702, 704, and 70&i(bny for judicial review of agency action
under the APA where a person suffers a legal wimtgause of agency action, or is adversely

affected or aggrieved by agency action).

8. Defendants have waived sovereign immunity argdGburt has the power to hear

Plaintiffs’ challenges to USEPA’s agency actionsspiant to provisions of the APA, 5 U.S.C.

88701-706. The APA “creates a comprehensive remhedheme for those allegedly harmed Qy
agency action.” Navajo Nation v. United States Dep’t of Interi819 F.3d 1084, 1090 (9th Cin.

2016) (citing 5 U.S.C. 88701-706).) “Section 702h® APA waives sovereign immunity for
suits alleging wrongful agency action or inactiorfld. (citing 5 U.S.C. 8702).) “Section 704 o
the APA provides a right to judicial review of affipal agency action for which there is no oth
adequate remedy in a court.’td((citing 5 U.S.C. 8704).) Section 706 of the APrArgs courts
the power to invalidate agency actions that iattey alia, “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance withléve” “in excess of statutory jurisdiction,
authority, or limitations, or short of statutorgint,” and “without observance of procedure
required by law.” 5 U.S.C. 8704. Accordingly, iat#fs’ challenge to USEPA'’s actions lies
properly in this Court. §ee5 U.S.C. 88702, 704, 70Bavajo Nationsupra)

ier

9. Plaintiffs have standing to bring this suit aghalf of its members because at least

one of Plaintiffs’ members would have standingue 8 its own right; the interests these trade

associations seek to protect are germane to tiganzations’ purpose; and neither the claims
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asserted nor the relief requested requires anidhuhY member to participate in this suiSee
Theodore Roosevelt Conservation P’ship v. Sal&&ss F.3d 497, 507 (D.C. Cir. 2010).)

10.  Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.SI3% (e) because this is an action
against an agency of the United States, and CVCVetains its principal place of business i
this judicial district.

1. PARTIES

11. SCAP is a non-profit corporation organized eétplensure that regulations

affecting POTWs and collection systems are readenkwful, and in the public’s best interest.

SCAP provides leadership, technical assistancetianadly information to its members in order
promote regulations and regulatory programs thatgan the sustainable protection of the
environment and public health, and acts to reptesmgh advocate for the interests of its memb
on issues of importance where, as here, federstbhbe agencies veer from the requirements s
forth in laws and regulations. SCAP has severahbees that have NPDES permits containin
TST-based requirements.

12. CVCWA is a non-profit industry trade associatiepresenting municipalities an
other public entities located within the Centrallgaregion that provide wastewater collectior
treatment, and water recycling services to millioh€entral Valley residents and businesses.
CVCWA participates in litigation where, as hergyits of import to the CVCWA membership
are raised.

13. BACWA is a joint-powers agency created by tladif@nia Government Code.
BACWA is comprised of the five largest wastewateatment agencies in the San Francisco
Area and associate members that provide techmiparese and financial support to
municipalities and special districts providing $arny sewer services to more than 6.5 million
people. BACWA participates in litigation where,lese, topics of import to the BACWA
membership are raised.

14. At the very least, SCAP has standing in thigtena Seel.ujan v. Defenders of
Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992).) Most of SCAP’s rhers are currently operating undsg

NPDES permits that are or will be subject to peiingtand compliance requirements that incly
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TST. CVCWA'’s and BACWA's members are concerned th&8EPA’s unlawful actions to use
mandate, implement, promote, encourage, and améhthré use by delegated States of
unpromulgated “rules” will increase the costs aihpdiance and the likelihood of false findings
of non-compliance for its members if TST requiretsaare placed in their members’ permits.
This result can be avoided by a finding in Plafstifavor. The standing of at least one
organization assures that this matter is justieialcause only the presence of one party with
standing is required.Sge Director, Office of Workers’ Compensation Peogs v. Perini North
River Associates159 U.S. 297, 303-305 (1983).)

15. Defendant USEPA is the United States ageneyapiiy responsible for the
implementation of the Clean Water Act and for oightsof its regional offices, including
USEPA Region IX, and the states acting or exergiprmitting authority granted under the
CWA. Defendant USEPA is also an agency of theadh@#tates charged with certain
responsibilities under the APA.

16. Defendant Alexis Strauss is the Acting Regidxdiinistrator of USEPA
Region I1X of the USEPA and is generally responsibteadministering USEPA Region IX in
accordance with the Clean Water Act and other egble laws. Ms. Strauss is sued in her
official capacity.

17. Doe Defendants 1 to 10 are responsible in soareer for the events herein
referred to, and caused injuries proximately thetelPlaintiffs as alleged herein. The names
the individual Doe defendants are at this time wwkm Plaintiffs will insert the true names an
capacities of the fictitiously named defendantsmwascertained. Plaintiffs are informed and
believe that, at all times herein mentioned, each Befendant was an agent of Defendant
USEPA and, in taking the actions hereinafter atlegeas acting within the scope of their
authority as an agent and with the permission amdent of USEPA.

V. FACTUAL AND LEGAL BACKGROUND

A. Overview of the Statutory Scheme

18. The CWA created a system for regulating watedity and permitting wastewate

discharges through the NPDES program. Under CWiases 301 and 402, all facilities that
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discharge pollutants from any point source intoersabf the United States are required to obt
an NPDES permit Effluent limitations serve as the primary mechanisNPDES permits for
controlling discharges of pollutants from point sm&s to receiving waters. Water quality
standards are used as the basis for deriving gafgpeffluent limitations in NPDES permits.
(40 C.F.R. 8122.44(d).) A determination of “reasiole potential”’ to cause or contribute to an
exceedance of water quality standards is a presiguo the inclusion of effluent limitations in
an NPDES permit. 40 C.F.R. 8122.44(d)(2)(i).

19. USEPA is required to review and to approveisagprove state-adopted water
quality standards under the CWA. Under CWA sec808(c), a “revised or new water quality

standard shall consist of the designated usesafdkiigable waters involved and the water

quality criteria for such waters based upon su@stis(33 U.S.C. 81313(c)(2)(A) (emphasis
added).) Generally, “designated uses” are thestgbactivities for which the water can be
employed (e.g., recreation, agriculture), and “watglity criteria” are the numeric or narrative
water quality levels necessary to support the Watksignated uses. Numeric water quality
criteria are expressed as specific concentratbmgdividual pollutants (e.g., no more than

5 mg/l pollutant X). Narrative water quality lesgle.g., no toxics in toxic amounts) are the
catch-alls of water quality regulation, and areaive statements describing a desired water
quality goal. Currently, in California, the waiguality standards for chronic toxicity are
narrative in form.

20. Since at least 2001, California’s Ocean Planded water quality objectives basq
on chronic toxicity units (“TUc”) and has specifigtht TUc shall be used for critical lifestage
toxicity tests using Part 136 methods. (See 20d€a® Plan at 78-79.) Even though the TST
guidance was available in 2012 and 2015 when tla@Plan was amended, the Ocean Plan
clearly requires that, where chronic toxicity eéffu limitations must be included, those
limitations must be based on TUc, which is caledabased upon the NOEL, and not on a
Pass/Fail basis as used with the TST. Use of 8 dontradicts the promulgated toxicity

requirements of the Ocean Plan.
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B. WET Testing

21.  Within the NPDES program, freshwater and maaitige and chronic toxicity
tests are used in conjunction with other chemioalyses to evaluate and assess the complia
of wastewater discharges and surface waters witbrngaality standards under the CWA.

22.  WET (i.e., Whole Effluent Toxicity) describdsetaggregate toxic effect of an
aqueous sample (e.g., whole effluent wastewatehdige) as measured by laboratory
organisms’ responses upon exposure to the samplading premature death, impaired growt
or reduced reproduction. WET is thus defined leyrtteasured effects on organisms. Becaus
toxicity is inherently defined by the measuremesstesm employed, toxicity is referred to as a
“method-defined analyte.” (67 Fed. Reg. 69,965.)

23. In WET testing, the final result is not basedacsingle measurement, but is the
product of a series of replicated measurementsrange of at least five effluent concentration
compared to a control sample, when testing finddeft. This contrasts with chemical methog
which generally rely on a single instrument measena.

24. The contrast with chemical measurements doestop there. Chemical
measurements have tremendous amounts of qualityot/gnality assurance (“QA/QC”)
procedures such as matrix spikes, matrix spikeichtels, known reference samples, etc. WE
has no accuracy component, which is why the proatatfymethods in Part 136 require five
effluent treatments to provide more certainty in YuEst results, which are not provided by thg
QA/QC common to chemical measurements.

25. The series of replicated measurements prodiacedgh WET testing can be

assessed through a number of distinct statistradguiures outlined in 40 C.F.R. Part 136. The

outcome of a statistical procedure is called thedpmint,” which under the promulgated test
methods in Part 136 can include one of the follauwaidthough no specific one of these endpo
included in the approved list are mandated:
a. The No Observed Effect Concentration (“NOECy"}hee No Observed
Effect Level (“NOEL"), both of which refer to thaghest concentration of a toxicant th

causes no observable effects in the exposed organis
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b. The 25% Inhibition Concentration (“IC25”), whiehthe concentration of

a toxicant that causes a 25% inhibition in growtheproduction in the exposed

organisms; and

C. The 50% Lethal Concentration (“LC50”), whicltl® concentration of a
toxicant that causes death in 50% of the exposgansms).

26. An endpoint of “Pass/Fail” ot authorizedunder the promulgated methods.

27. The endpoints of NOEC/NOEL, IC25, and LC50alexpressed as percent of
the effluent, while an endpoint of Pass/Fail isitless” (i.e., not expressed as a percent or in
terms of units). Because WET is a method-defimedy#e, the statistical procedures used and
endpoint reported are important as different pracesi often create different results. In other
words, one statistical procedure may produce dtretttoxic,” while another may produce the
result of “non-toxic” on the same tested effluent.

28. WET tests are surrogates, designed to replibattotal effect and environmental
exposure of aquatic life to toxic pollutants in emvithout initially requiring the identificationfo
the specific pollutants. Because WET testing daetsdentify the specific pollutant(s), more in
depth analyses, known as Toxicity Identificatioralerations (“TIES”) and Toxicity Reduction
Evaluations (“TRES”) are often performed if toxicis initially indicated in order to determine
what pollutant(s) may be causing the toxicity eifec
C. The WET Regulatory Scheme

29. Section 304(a) of the CWA requires that USERB®&€r consultation with

the

appropriate Federal and State agencies and otieeested persons, shall develop and publishl. . .

(and from time to time thereafter revise) inforroati.. (C) on the measurement and
classification of water quality....” (33 U.S.C. 84%4)(2)(C).) Section 304(a)(3) requires

“[s]uch criteria and information and revisions thef shall be issued to the States and shall be

published in the Federal Register and otherwiseenaadilable to the public.” (33 U.S.C.

81314(a)(3)(emphasis added). Section 304(a)(8)nexthat USEPA, after consultation with
appropriate State agencies, “shall develop andgiubiformation on methods for establishing

and measuring water quality criteria for toxic ptdints, on other bases than pollutant-by-
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pollutant criteria, including biological monitorirand assessment. (33 U.S.C. §1314(a)(8).
Section 304(h) of the CWA requires USEPA to “progaié guidelines establishing test
procedures for the analysis of pollutants thatlshelude the factors which must be provided i
any certification pursuant to section [401 of th&A&] or permit application pursuant to section
[402 of the CWA].” (33 U.S.C. §1314(h); 33 U.S&81341, 1342.) Thus, the CWA Section
304 requires rules, promulgated through a publieere and comment process, related to the
measurement of water quality and does not authtiizéssuance of informal unpromulgated
guidance setting forth test procedures or anatiisiscan be used for regulatory purposes.

30. In accordance with these CWA Section 304 masjaiSEPA regulations at
40 C.F.R. Part 136 prescribe the specific methads@porting units for each parameter teste
that must be used for the analysis of pollutantsliapplications and reports submitted under {
NPDES program under section 402 of the CWA, as agebtate certifications pursuant to sect
401 of the CWA. (40 C.F.R. 88136.1(a), 136.3.)demMUSEPA rules, NPDES permit
compliance monitoring must be done according tbpgescedures approved under 40 C.F.R.
Part 136. $ee accordO C.F.R. 8122.41(j)(4) and 8122.44(i)(iv) (monitgr must be done
according to test procedures approved under 40RCHart 136).)

31. In November of 2002, USEPA promulgated throadbrmal notice and commer
rulemaking process acute and short-term chronic \WdSTmethods and procedures, for use i
monitoring compliance with NPDES permit limitatioimsaccordance with 40 C.F.R. Part 136.
(SeeUSEPA Guidelines Establishing Test ProceduresiierAnalysis of Pollutants; Whole
Effluent Toxicity Test Methods; Final Rule, 67 F&kg. 69,952 (Nov. 19, 2002).) This
regulation and the documents expressly incorpoayaeference into that regulation are herei
referred to as the “2002 Rule.” The 2002 Rule gm@scthe parameter to be measured and the
required units for determining the acute and cloooxicity for freshwater and saline water. T
2002 Rule constituted the universe of USEPA’s @ingld and promulgated WET methods ang
procedures. See2002 Rule, 67 Fed. Reg. 69,972.)

32.  The 2002 Rule does not mention or authorizel i€ statistical procedure. In

addition, the 2002 Rule, among other things, atseschot mention or authorize an alternative
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hypothesis presuming the water tested is toxice 2002 Rule does not authorize and actually

discourages the use of single sample “Pass/Fail'résults as is prescribed with the use of the

TST. In fact, the 2002 Rule states that the “[uiEpass/fail tests consisting of a single effluer
concentration (e.g., the receiving water conceiotnair RWC) and a control is not
recommended.” The 2002 Rule does not authorize/Pasendpoints, or unitless expressions
toxicity. The 2002 Rule does not authorize a stiadl method that relies only on the informat
from two tested concentrations instead of a mininafisix concentrations of effluent and cont
groups when testing final effluent. Plaintiffs dbage what is herein called “the TST,” which
includes each of these unauthorized WET test amppbance related requirements. The
2002 Rule does not authorize use of the TST or oastlor procedures related to the TST.

33. In promulgating the 2002 Rule, USEPA specilicabnsidered allowing
alternative statistical procedures, but chose mabtso, explaining that, “EPA has not include(
such alternative statistical methods in today’s rincattions to WET test methods. EPA believe
that the statistical methods currently recommendedde WET methods [NOEC, 1C25, LC50]
are appropriate.” (67 Fed. Reg. 69,964 (emphakied).) The 2002 Rule acknowledged that
other techniques exist and that the statisticahotg adopted into 40 C.F.R. Part 136 are not
only possible methods. However, the 2002 Ruléharrstates that, “[tjhe recommended
statistical methods described in the method mamwead selected because they are (1) applica
to most of the different toxicity test data setsvidnich they are recommended, (2) powerful
statistical tests, (3) hopefully “easily” undeostd by nonstatisticians, and (4) amenable to us
without a computer, if necessary.ld((emphasis added).) Thus, the 2002 Rule cleaatgdt
that a reasoned decision had been made to onlyde@nd approve use of certain statistical
procedures. Significantly, the TST was not amdregrt.

34. To validate the performance of the test methocladed in the 2002 Rule,
USEPA relied on an Interlaboratory Variability Syushd established a false positive error rat
for each WET test method. The Interlaboratory &aifity Study did not include the TST
statistical procedure, and the USEPA has not cdedux study to determine the false positive

error rate of the TST statistical procedure.
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D. USEPA'’s TST Guidance and Subsequent Rulemaking

35. In 2010, USEPA issued TST guidance, which mmused of guidance documer
regarding a potential new statistical method fa msWET testing called the TSTS€ee.q,
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination SystemtlasSignificant Toxicity Implementation
Document, EPA 833-R-10-003 (June 2Q1BPA Regions 8, 9, and 10 Toxicity Training Tool
(January 2010).) The TST relies on an alterndtymothesis presuming toxicity and includes
Pass/Fail endpoints not contained in or authorimethe promulgated 2002 Rule. Furthermorsg
the TST guidance includes arplicit disclaimerconfirming that the document is not “a permit
a regulation itself.” In fact, the TST guidancepgt ii states:

“This document does not... substitute for the CWANRDES permit, or EPA or

state regulations applicable to permits or WETingsthor is this document a

permit or a regulation itself. The TST approacksinot result in changes to

EPA’'s WET test methods promulgated at Title 40hef@ode of Federal

RegulationdPart 136. The document does not and cannot imgoséegally

binding requirements on EPA, states, NPDES peresiter laboratories

conducting or using WET testing for permitteesf@rstates in evaluating

ambient water quality). EPA could revise this doemt without public notice to
reflect changes in EPA policy and guidance.”

Given these disclaimers, no one (including Pldsjtilvas aware or on notice in 2010 that t
guidance document would be used in a regulatoryezdnor could be construed to modify tf
promulgated methods.

36. In 2012, as required by the CWA to from timeinee amend the information ...
on the measurement and classification of watentgu@3 U.S.C. §1314(a)(2)(C)), USEPA
formally amended the 2002 Rule’s WET test methaws@ocedures in its modifications to thg
Promulgated Guidelines Establishing Test Procedorete Analysis of Pollutants under the
Clean Water Act: Analysis and Sampling Proced(i2312 Rule”). (77 Fed. Reg. 29758
(May 18, 2012); see 40 C.F.R. Part 136.) USEPAisradments failed to incorporate or
authorize use of the TST, even though the TST ambrbad been available as guidance for
nearly two yearsSee5 U.S.C. § 551(13) (failure to act may constitugeracy action).

37. Also in May of 2012, USEPA Headquarters, Offi¢&Vastewater Management,

Water Permits Division, issued and made availabM$EPA Regions and States the NPDES
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WET Spreadsheet, which calculates various WET entiptbased on the statistical flowchartg
provided in USEPA's test methods, as well as residing USEPA’'s NPDES WET Test of
Significant Toxicity document (TST; EPA 833-R-103)Qune 2010).” The Spreadsheet
documenfor thefirst time indicated a regulatory use of the TST guidancsthing that the
NPDES WET spreadsheet can be used for:
“> Determining reasonable potential Point estimates using EPA’s
Technical Support Document approaches, as welSdsckn be used for
determining Reasonable Potential (RP).
> Compliance determinations.NOEC/LOEC and point estimates, as well
as TST results can be used to determine permit kiamep.

38. Despite the fact that the TST guidance wasthoazed by the CWA, the 2012
Rule, or the 2002 Rule, on July 15, 2012, USEPAtardRegional Water Quality Control Boa
Santa Ana Region, issued NPDES Permit No. CA0118&®de Orange County Sanitation
District, a SCAP member. This NPDES Permit reglttee use of the TST, and stated “The
reported results shall include: determination @s® or ‘Fail’ and ‘Percent Effect’ following the
Test of Significant Toxicity hypothesis testing apgach inNational Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System Test of Significant Toxicity lenpentation DocumerfEPA 833-R-10-003,
2010) [the TST guidance].”

39. In 2015, USEPA again proposed to modify thellsgns in 40 C.F.R. Part 136.
These proposed modifications included clarificasiand corrections to the procedures for
toxicity testing 6ee80 Fed. Reg. 8956-9075 (February 19, 2015) adiess
http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-02-19/pdf/2602841.pdf). Significantly, the newly

proposed rule failed to include the TST. (80 Feeg. 8968-8969.) SCAP and its members
commented on this proposed rule.

40. On August 7, 2017, the USEPA Administrator sgyand submitted the final rulg
for publication, again updating the Part 136 RoleAnalysis of Effluent. Again, USEPA’s
amendments failed to modify the Part 136 rule tduithe the TST. In fact, Table 1A (“List of

Approved Biological Methods for Wastewater and Sgsvaludge”) continues to include only
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NOEC or IC25, percent effluent, in the listings ébronic toxicity. 82 Fed. Reg. 40847-8. Th
rule finalizing the proposed rule from 2015 was|@iied at 82 Federal Register 40,836 on
August 28, 2017, and became effective Septembe2@L7/ (“2017 Final Rule”). USEPA once
again failed to act in accordance with the CWA praimulgate the TST, or at least incorporats
the TST guidance by reference into the rule, makiagawful regulation under the requiremer
of CWA Section 304.

E. SCAP’s Challenge to USEPA’s Approval of TST asraAlternative Test Procedure

41. Under limited circumstances and subject toifipeegulatory requirements, a
person may request an Alternative Test Proced#€R") authorizing the use of test methods
and procedures not previously approved and fornmtiynulgated by USEPA. (40 C.F.R.
8136.3(a).) The ATP process was designed to “elag@uorganizations external to ERA
develop and submit for approval new analytical mdfh’ See Guide to Method Flexibility an
Approval of EPA Water Methodd SEPA Office of Water (Dec. 1996) at p. 77.) WB3E
regulations at sections 136.4 and 136.5 descrisphcific procedures and requirements for
obtaining USEPA review and approval of ATPs. (46.R. 88136.4, 136.5.)

42. USEPA Region I1X had been urging the State difd€aia to utilize the TST in
NPDES permits and its pending Toxicity Policy ferveral years. Regulated dischargers
objected to the use of the TST over concerns raggtdgh false positive error rates and beca
the TST was not included in a formally promulgaé@d publicly vetted rule as required by the
CWA.

43. On February 12, 2014, to overcome these cosgctra California State Water
Resources Control Board requested USEPA RegiorppXaval to use the TST statistical meth

in conjunction with a test design incorporatingyotwio samples (effluent and control) rather tf

the minimum of six required for effluent testingden the 2002 Rule. A little more than a month

later, on March 17, 2014, USEPA Region IX approgedatewide, limited use ATP allowing th
use of the TST with just two concentrations (effiusample and control) under 40 C.F.R.

Part 136.5. Further, USEPA applied this ATP to-nocean and ocean waters, even though

1515226.2 14

S

1”4

se

od

nan

e

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT MD INJUNCTIVE RELIEF




DOWNEY BRAND LLP

© 00 N o o -~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o ~N o U~ W N B O © 0O N O U~ W N R O

application to ocean waters was not requestedéotate Water Board in its ATP request, an
was inconsistent with the terms of the promulg&edan Plan.

44, After USEPA approved the ATP for Californiaz@14, NPDES permits in the L¢
Angeles Region began to be issued using the TS3duas the modified test design approved
ATP. Plaintiffs challenged USEPA's approval of tR€P in this court (se8CAP et al, v.
USEPA Case No. 2:14-CV-01513-MCE-DADSCAP1).

45, INSCAP l,which was filed in 2014even though the main focus of that case was

challenging the ATP that allowed the use of the ,T’¥&intiffs raised the issue that USEPA
violated the APA by imposing or mandating the ukthis two-concentration TST until that
method has been promulgated by USEPA as an approgtdthd under 40 C.F.R. Part 136.
SCAP | First Amended Complaint at { 3. Further, Plistiaised the issue that “Analytical
results obtained by using a non-promulgated metlandot be used for NPDES compliance
determination purposes until that method has beepeply incorporated into 40 C.F.R.

Part 136.”Id.

46. INnSCAP |,Plaintiffs specifically challenged: “USEPA’s failito comply with the
law, as set forth [t]herein, subjects that fedag@ncy’s actions to judicial review under the AR
In this case, Plaintiffs seek a declaration thaEBS acted contrary to the mandates of the AR
and the regulations implementing the CWA and exedetd statutory authority. As a result,
USEPA's actions are unlawful and void. (28 U.$2201; Fed. R. Civ. P. 57.) Plaintiffs furth
seek preliminary and permanent injunctive relief@intain the status quo pending adjudicati
and to forestall irreparable injury to Plaintififsiembers and others in the meantime. (28 U.S
82202; Fed. R. Civ. P. 65.)SCAP | First Amended Complaint at § 6. This paragraps w
expressly incorporated into the causes of actldnat 1 38, 53, 63.

47. INSCAP I|,Plaintiffs included a prayer for relief seeking“@rder that USEPA
and its officers, employees, and agents, are teamihoand permanently enjoined from
mandating the use of the two-concentration TSheruse of analytical results obtained by us

this non-promulgated method for NPDES complianderadeination or other Clean Water Act

purposes.”SCAP ] First Amended Complaint at 17,  E. This Coumderstood that there werg
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two prongs to this case — “Plaintiffs filed thigiaa in order to overturn the ATP approval ang
to obtain a permanent injunction preventing the E# ‘mandating the use of the two-
concentration TST or use of analytical results et using this nonpromulgated method for
NPDES compliance determination or other Clean Wabtempurposes.” SCAP |,Document 102
p. 4 of 13, lines 14-18 (Filed 10/21/168ge also SCAP ICase 2:16-cv-02960-MCE-DB,
Document 36, Page 4 of 17, lines 15-17 (Filed 038¢“Plaintiffs filed that action seeking to
overturn the ATP approval and to obtain a permaimgmtction preventing the EPA from
mandating use of the two-concentration TST.”).

48 Before a ruling was issuedSCAP | USEPA withdrew that ATP in 2015.
Therefore, currently, no valid ATP for WET testinging the TST or two concentration design
exists or is approved in California. After deteming the case was moot after the ATP was

withdrawn, the Court would not allow the judgmentrmaootness to be modified or an

amendment to th8CAP Icomplaint, and instead required a new case toldxk dind related back

to the initial case. Given the several organizatimvolved, each of which had to get approva
from their boards to file new litigation, a new cplaint in this case could not be filed until
December of 2016.
F. USEPA Continues to Require the Use of the TST

49. Despite withdrawing the ATP, USEPA has contithteeuse, require the use, ang
approved of the use of the TST as a statisticadquore for toxicity tests, testing just two
concentrations, utilizing a different null hypotiggsand prescribing a Pass/Fail endpoint for
analyzing WET test results and determining compkawnith NPDES permit requirements. Up
information and belief, USEPA continues to do &65EPA failed to act to include these
requirements in the 2012 Rule, or 2017 Final Rinlexcess of its statutory and regulatory
authority.

50. USEPA has issued or approved of issuance off8Permits and allowed many
other permits to be adopted, many held by SCAP meesnithat included requirements to cond

WET testing and determine complaints based upoii 8lfeguidance, even though the TST
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guidance wasltra virescontrary to the CWA and federal regulatiomder alia, the APA,
40 C.F.R. Part 136, 40 C.F.R. 8122.41(j) and 814®,4and the Ocean Plan.

51. By way of example, on or about April 9, 201f6elathe ATP used to justify the
previous permit was withdrawn by USEPA, the Rediddater Quality Control Board, Los
Angeles Region, revised the NPDES permit for thetJoutfall System, Order R4-2015-0070,
for the San Jose Creek Water Reclamation Plachrtnue to require the use of the
unpromulgated TST, now directly relying upon “cunr& SEPA guidance iNational Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System Test of Significanti@ity Implementation Document (EPA 833
R-10-003, June/201()he TST guidancednd EPA Regions 8, 9, and 10 Toxicity TraininglTo
(January 2010). This and other Los Angeles Region permits atsquired that “[t]he discharge
is subject to determination of ‘Pass’ or ‘Fail’ fnoa chronic toxicity test using the Test of
Significant Toxicity (TST) statistical t-test appch described iNational Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System Test of Significant Toxicity lkenpentation Document (EPA 833-R-10-003
2010)[the TST guidance].”

52. On or about May 21, 2015, USEPA emailed varind&iduals at the State Watg
Board to inform them that the ATP had been withdralawree months earlier. In response,
Charles Reed of the State Water Board emailed ligiraSablad and Robyn Stuber of USEPA
and inquired as to the effect of the ATP withdramalCalifornia Ocean Plan-based NPDES
permits. Ms. Sablad replied that “[d]espite théhdiawal of the ATP approval, the state is sti
able to use this new test evaluation method,” riefgrto TST, “which is superior to methods
previously used.” Despite this determination that TST is “superior,” the TST guidance is
ultra viresand USEPA failed to incorporate the TST into P&@ as required by the CWA.
Upon information and belief, USEPA will continue iinlawful actions and failures to act in th
absence of an injunction.

53. Generally, challenges to agency regulationg laasix-year statute of limitations.
(28 U.S.C. 82401(a).) Plaintiffs’ action is a stamsive challenge to USEPA’s TST guidance,
which wasultra viresand in excess of USEPA’s statutory authority. USERthdrew the ATP

in February 2015, at which point TST requirementpermits began to be justified on the TST|
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guidance documents directly, instead of on an amgatovalid ATP. If a person wishes to

challenge a mere procedural violation in the aaopdif a regulation or other agency action, the

challenge must be brought within six years of theision. Wind River Min. Corp. v. U.S.

946 F.2d 710, 715 (9th Cir. 1991). Because the g@dance was not adopted as a formal
published regulation, there are no procedural tims to challenge within six years of
publication in the Federal Register. “If, howewehallenger contests the substance of an
agency decision as exceeding constitutional outstat authority, the challenger may do so lat
than six years following the decision by filing @ngplaint for review of the adverse applicatiorj
of the decision to the particular challengeid. The statute of limitations did not begin to run
the Plaintiffs’ claims until the TST guidance bedarbe utilized as if it were a rule authorized
the CWA. The Ninth Circuit has held that the “govaent should not be permitted to avoid a
challenges to its actions, evemifra vires,simply because the agency took the action long
before anyone discovered the true state of affaic. Furthermore, Plaintiffs could not petition
to rescind the TST as a “rule” because USEPA woladan there was never any rule
promulgated.

54. The earliest this substantive action could H@aome ripe, concrete, and accru
was in 2012, when for the first time (that Plaiistiire aware of) USEPA used the TST guidan
in a regulatory context. A guidance document nexdized for any regulatory purpose is not
subject to review and has no statute of limitatipesod. With respect to the TST guidance,
Plaintiffs claims were not ripe until USEPA begaquiring the TST that made that guidance
document contrary to the mandates of the CWA, atwRlaintiffs were not aware and had no
notice of until 2012.

55. In either case, this challenge is timely. Ethas Court in the previouSCAP |
case held that USEPA “cannot avoid review by gigftihe bases of its actions until the statute
limitation on challenging the issuance of its regoity documents runs” and the USEPA’s
“actions can remain open to challenge on an ‘asepbasis when regulations are used in ne
ways.” SeeSouthern California Alliance of Publically Ownedeatment Works v. EPA.

No. 2:14-cv-01413-MCE-DB, 2016 WL 6135872, at *6[PECal. Oct. 21, 20165ccord Utu
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Utu Gwaity 766 F.Supp. 842, 846 (E.D. Cal. 1991) (statirag thcourt accepted agency’s
position that action accrued on substantive chg#leat point regulation was published in feder
register that “agency could effectively shieldiiteerpretation of [that] regulation from all judagdi
scrutiny either by not enforcing it until after tetute of limitations has run or by reinterpretir
it after the statute has run”).) Otherwise, amagecould sit on guidance until the statute ran {
shield itself from review. SeeaccordMemorandum and Order at 19guthern California
Alliance of Publically Owned Treatment Works v. Emo. 2:14-cv-01413-MCE-DB (E.D. Cal
Oct. 21, 2016).) The first post-2010 use of thd Trisanother UESPA document was in the 2(
NPDES WET Spreadsheet. The first NPDES permitgudia TST that Plaintiffs are aware of
was in the ocean discharge permit for the OrangentydSanitation District, a SCAP member,
adopted jointly by USEPA and California in 2012hee 2012 actions triggered the start of th
Six year statute of limitations on the TST guidadoeument as amltra viresaction of USEPA.
Wind River Min. Corp. v. U.5946 F.2d at 716 (“a substantive challenge togamey decision
alleging lack of agency authority may be brougtthwi six years of the agency’s application o
that decision to the specific challenger.”) Thimese 2012 actions extended the length of the
statute of limitations by two years after the TSildgnce was wrongfully issued in 2010 in
contravention of the CWA's requirements.

56.  An alternative trigger date could also be tedecent permits adopted after the
withdrawal of the ATP. Because the USEPA withdtbev ATP in February 2015, the statute ¢
limitations arguably did not start to run on thaiRliffs’ claims until at least that time, when TS
requirements in permits began to be justified a®BT guidance documents directly, instead
on an approved, valid ATP.Sée id. In either case, this challenge to USEP@ltsa viresaction
would still be timely.

57. This Court ruled iI®CAP lIthat: “a challenge in Plaintiffs’ FAC that allegdte
EPA improperly relied on the 2010 guidance to igsemnits “would have been speculative an
unripe at the time” of Plaintiffs’ FAC. Mem. & Oed, ECF No. 94, at 11:17-18. That is beca
Plaintiffs had only alleged that the EPA was impiesibly relying on the ATP to issue such

permits, and not that permits were being issueddas the 2010 guidance. If Plaintiffs are nq
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alleging that the EPA is relying on the 2010 guaiaim a way that it was not when the ATP w
in effect, then the statute of limitations on sadkgations would not have started running unti
that change occurred. This is because the statlitaitations only begins to run ‘after the righ
of action first accrues.” 28 U.S.C. §2401(a). &mAcri v. International Association of
Machinists 781 F.2d 1393 (9th Cir. 1986), any cause of adtased on the EPA using the 201
guidance in a new way in response to the revocatiohe ATP would likely have not accrued
until—at the very earliest—the ATP was revoked @ébftiary 2015. The EPA cannot avoid
review by shifting the bases of its actions utté statute of limitation on challenging the
issuance of its regulatory documents runs. The’'&Bétions can remain open to challenge of
“as applied” basis when regulations are used inwaws.” SCAP |, Document 102, p. 11, lines
10-25.

58. Under the two-prong test enunciatedani, the Plaintiffs’ right to challenge did

0

nan

not accrue until Plaintiffs were aware of the wramgl could successfully bring a cause of actjon.

The first time this test was met was in 2012, apipnately two years after the 2010 TST
guidance was issued. Thus, the six-year statutddwent run until 2018. Since the complaint
this case was initially filed in December of 201lis challenge to theltra viresTST guidance id
timely. The Ninth Circuit has ruled that “diffeeconsiderations guide the application of the
statute of limitations to challenges to an actimoeeding the agency’s authority, although we
remain sensitive to the government's interesterfitiality of its policy decisions.’"Wind River
Min. Corp, supra946 F.2d at 714.

59. Plaintiffs further allege strict applicationtbe statute of limitations is
inappropriate and may be subject to doctrines sisolhaiver, equitable tolling, or estoppete
Cedars Sinai Medical Center v. Shalal®5 F.3d 765, 770 (9th Cir.1997)(holding Section
2401(a) erects only a procedural bar, thus pengitharties to assert traditional exceptions to
statute of limitations).

60. A statute of limitations can be equitably tdll§See Pace v. DiGuglielmo
544 U.S. 408, 418 (2005) (statute of limitationsyrha equitably tolled where litigant establish

“(1) that he has been pursuing his rights diliggrahd (2) some extraordinary circumstance
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stood in his way”). “[T]he equitable tolling doatg ‘enables courts to meet new situations [th
demand equitable intervention, and to accord alkélief necessary to correct ... particular
injustices.” "Wong v. Beehe&r32 F.3d 1030, 1052 (9th Cir.2018ufting Holland v. Florida
560 U.S. 631, 650 (2010)).

61. Extraordinary circumstance stood in Plaintiffsly from challenging the TST
guidance. Before 2012, Plaintiffs were not awaes the guidance document, which declared
could not be used as a regulation, had been od dmuttilized by USEPA in any manner that
could be deemed regulatory in nature. A challengée use of the TST guidance in new ways
starting in 2012 was timely filed by Plaintiffs liess than six years.

62. A claim subject to the § 2401(a) limitationsipé first accrues when the plaintifi
comes into possession “of the critical facts tleahas been hurt and who has inflicted the inju
United States v. Kubri¢ld44 U.S. 111, 122, 100 S.Ct. 352, 62 L.Ed.2d(@999);Acri v. Int'l
Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workef81 F.2d 1393, 1396 (9th Cir. 1986) (“Under feder

law a cause of action accrues when the plaintifwsre of the wrong and can successfully bri

a cause of action.”). Stated another way, “[tlhemaat at which a cause of action first accrues

within the meaning of Section 2401(a) is when pleeson challenging the agency action can
institute and maintain a suit in court. Muwekma Ohlone Tribe v. Salaz813 F.Supp.2d 170,
190-91 (D.D.C.2011).

63. “Extraordinary circumstances” have also beemdbin “situations where the
claimant has actively pursued his judicial remedbes$iling a defective pleading during the
statutory period, or where the complainant has liedunced or tricked by his adversary's
misconduct into allowing the filing deadline to pa<O’Donnell v. Vencor Ing 465 F.3d 1063,
1068 (9th Cir.2006). Plaintiffs believed that themplaint in the related action concerning the
ATP inSCAP |,Case No. 2:14-cv-01513-MCE-DB was broad enougtot@r a challenge to th
TST guidance.See supra 1%5-47 This Court, however, disagreed in its October 26dter and
found Plaintiffs’ complaint not broad enough, ofeiive in that regardSeeSCAP v. USEPA
No. 2:14-cv-01413-MCE-DB, 2016 WL 6135872, at *6[PECal. Oct. 21, 2016). Upon gainin

approval for new litigation from each of its clispPlaintiffs moved swiftly to prepare its initial
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complaint in this related action, which was filed December 19, 2016.
64. A challenge to USEPA's failure to act to inauthe TST in the 2012 Rule or the
2017 Final Rule are also timely as filed withinéays of each of these failures to act.
V. PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Declaratory Relief Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 82201 anBederal Rule of Civil Procedure 57 —
Ultra Vires Wrongful Creation, Use, or Approval of TST
and Failure to Act to Incorporate TST into Promulgated Rules
Violation of the CWA and Administrative ProceduresAct)

65. Plaintiffs refer to and incorporate by thisereihce all allegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 through 64 above.

66. Issuance of the TST guidance document with WAl test methods contravene
the requirements of the CWA at 33 U.S.C. sectiobdland is, thereforeyltra viresand void
ab initio. The APA authorizes the Court to hold unlawful artiaside final USEPA actions tha
are “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discret@mmtherwise not in accordance with law.”
(5 U.S.C. 8706(2)(A).)

67.  The APA also authorizes the Court to hold ufildhand set aside final USEPA
actions that are “in excess of statutory . . .aath” (5 U.S.C. 8706(2)(C).)

68. USEPA’s TST, which created a new statisticatpdure, with a Pass/Fail
endpoint, for analyzing WET test results or detaing compliance with NPDES permit

requirements, isltra vires—beyond the scope or in excess of USEPA'’s legalguaw authority

—and contrary to law and federal regulatiansgr alia, the CWA at 33 U.S.C. 81314, the APA;

40 C.F.R. Part 136, 40 C.F.R. 8122.21(j)(4)(viifApplicants must collect samples of effluent
and analyze such samples for pollutants in accaesdauith analytical methods approved under
40 C.F.R. Part 136..."); 40 C.F.R. 8122.21(j)(5)(MiiWhole effluent toxicity testing conducte
pursuant to paragraph (j)(5)(ii) of this sectionsinbe conducted using methods approved ung
40 C.F.R. Part 136”); 40 C.F.R. 8122.21(d)(2)(i@pplicant must collect a sample of effluent §

analyze it for the pollutant in accordance withlgieal methods approved under part 136 of t

1515226.2 22

L

ler
and

Nis

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT MD INJUNCTIVE RELIEF




DOWNEY BRAND LLP

© 00 N o o -~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o ~N o U~ W N B O © 0O N O U~ W N R O

chapter”); 40 C.F.R. 8122.41(j)(4) ("Monitoring muse conducted according to test procedur
approved under 40 C.F.R. Part 136..."); and §122@4), and the Ocean Plan.

69. USEPA took anltra viresaction by issuing a guidance document that alldwes
use of the TST in the NPDES program in contraventibthe CWA, 40 C.F.R. Part 136, and tk
Ocean Plan.

70. Nothing in the CWA or its implementing regutats grants USEPA the authority
to use or approve of the use of the TST with oheut a Pass/Fail endpoint in place of other
officially promulgated statistical procedures amdgoints in the NPDES program. USEPA al
failed to act by not incorporating the TST into tbemal rulemakings for the 2012 Rule and 2(
Final Rule before utilizing the TST as a rule.

71. USEPA's use or approval of the use of the TBNNPDES permits failed to
conform to the requirements for promulgation of teaethods and procedures under CWA
Section 304 and 40 C.F.R. Part 136.

72. Anultra viresact of an administrative agency is either void@idable.
Manhattan General Equipment Co. v. Commissionéntefnal Revenue297 U.S. 129, 134,

56 S.Ct. 397, 399, 80 L.Ed. 528 (1936) (A regulatidhich ... operates to create a rule out of
harmony with the statute, is a mere nullitgcific Gas & Electric Co. v. United States
664 F.2d 1133, 1136 (9th Cir.1982).

73. USEPA'’s actions were arbitrary and capricimislated federal law and
regulations, and work to prejudice the regulatesimoinity, including Plaintiffs’ members.
USEPA violated the CWA, APA, federal regulationgleamenting CWA section 304, and the
Ocean Plan, and thus acted in an arbitrary andotays manner, abused its discretion, and ag
in a manner not in accordance with law, as seh foetrein.

74.  The APA authorizes the Court to hold unlawfudl set aside final USEPA actior
that are without observance of procedure requiyeldw. (5 U.S.C. 8706(2)(D).)

75. USEPA exceeded its statutory authority underA&tction 304 and 40 C.F.R.
Part 136 in violation of the CWA and the APA.
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76. An actual and substantial controversy hasmaasel presently exists between
Plaintiffs and USEPA regarding the validity of USE® ultra viresaction ostensibly allowing
the use and approval of the use of the TST ancce$éed methods and procedures in violation
federal and state law and regulations. USEPA'®astas described herein ardéra viresand
therefore invalidab initio. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that USERgpdtes these
contentions.

77. Because Plaintiffs have no adequate remedynator USEPA'’s actions and
failures to act, and Plaintiffs’ members have imedror will imminently incur substantial harm
the result of USEPA’s wrongdoing, a declarationasessary to clarify the parties’ obligations
and to inform the public.

78. Plaintiffs seek an order pursuant to 28 U.Sedction 2201 and Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 57, declaring the USEPA'’s actiansise, implement, mandate, approve of,
authorize, encourage, or allow the use of the TiShe Pass/Fail option in NPDES permits
constitutes an unlawfuiltra viresregulation, and that all actions taken by the USEBiPAy
others in reliance upon USEPA regarding the TSdomntravention of such procedures are voif
ab initio and shall have no legal force or effect since USE4#ad to act to incorporate the TS]
into the 2012 Rule or 2017 Final Rule. In additiBraintiffs seek an order that any test results
based on the voided TST and associated methodsraoedures are also void and no
enforcement actions can be taken for any previalations of effluent limitations or monitorin
requirements based on thkra viresTST guidance.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Injunctive Relief Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 82202 ané&ederal Rule of Civil Procedure 65 —
Preliminary and Permanent Injunctive Relief)

79. Plaintiffs refer to and incorporate by thisereihce all allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 78 above.

80. Plaintiffs seek an order pursuant to 28 U.§2202 and Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 65 to enjoin the USEPA from using, imgeting, mandating, or approving, allowin
encouraging, or authorizing the use of tiftea viresTST and its associated methods and
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procedures for water quality regulation, permitfingd compliance determination purposes,
because the TST idtra viresand contrary to CWA section 304, 33 U.S.C. 8131bd, lzecause
USEPA failed to act to incorporate the TST into 2042 Rule or 2017 Final Rule..

81. A substantial likelihood exists that Plaintivdl succeed on the merits of the
claims for the relief pled herein.

82. Plaintiffs’ members are likely to suffer or lkaalready suffered irreparable injur
in the absence of injunctive relief that would notur or have occurred but for thkra vires
action of USEPA. Many of Plaintiffs’ members opgerOTWSs pursuant to NPDES permits
issued by delegated States, including Californtiate Water Resources Control Board and
Regional Water Quality Control Boards, or by USEtRAL include chronic toxicity testing and
compliance provisions. If not enjoined from the wé theultra viresTST for testing and
compliance purposes in all NPDES permits, mangoifall, of Plaintiffs’ members as well as

other dischargers in the affected States will logired to begin using and reporting WET testi

results derived from an unpromulgated rule thaeeskly affects their compliance status. “One

does not have to await the consummation of thredtemury to obtain preventive relief. If the
injury is certainly impending, that is enougtPacific Gas & Electric v. State Energy Resourc
Conservation and Development Com#61 U.S. at 201, 103 S.Ct. at 178apting Pennsylvani:
v. West Virginia262 U.S. 553, 593, 43 S.Ct. 658, 663, 67 L.EA71(11923).

83. Use of the TST will result in an increased ¢odRlaintiffs’ members in
undertaking the additional replicate measuremestessary to reduce the likelihood of being
found in violation; an increased frequency of fgissitives in toxicity testing and further
unnecessary but significant costs in TIEs, TREsmutdntially facility upgrades; and, as a rest
a higher incidence of alleged noncompliance wittDES permits, potentially resulting in civil
and even criminal liability. Injunctive relief isenessary given the fact that many of Plaintiffs’
members have recently obtained or are in the psamesbtaining new or revised NPDES pern
from the State Water Board, Regional Water Qu&ityitrol Boards, or USEPA that include
chronic toxicity testing and compliance provisidrased on thaltra viresTST and associated

methods and procedures not incorporated into red¢8&PA rulemaking.
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84. The threatened injuries outweigh any damageath@junction may cause the
Defendant since an injunction would merely maintam status quo that existed prior to the
issuance of thaltra viresTST guidance unless and until the TST is formatlynpulgated into
Part 136.

85. An order enjoining USEPA from using or authioigzthe use of aaltra vires
guidance document is consistent with CWA requiregsiand serves the public interest.

86. Because Plaintiffs have no adequate remedyatdr the unjustified additional
and substantial costs enumerated above, and bel&useffs’ members have or will imminent
incur substantial harm in the form of increasedergment jeopardy as the result of USEPA'’S
ultra viresaction, preliminary and permanent injunctive reieeppropriate. Injunctive relief
that maintains the status quo that existed pritihéol ST guidance until and after resolution of
this adjudication of this matter is necessary theotto forestall irreparable injury to Plaintiffach
their members as demonstrated above.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that @aurt:
A. Declare to beilltra viresUSEPA's issuance, use, implementation, mandatieeof
TST, or encouragement, allowance, approval or aiztdon for States to use the TST and
associated requirements in the NPDES program #sec@ST guidance was:
1. Made without observance of procedure requirelywithin the meaning
of APA section 706(2)(D); or
2. Not in accordance with law within the meaningA&fA section 706(2)(A);
and
3. Beyond USEPA'’s statutory jurisdiction, authomtylimitations, within the
meaning of APA section 706(2)(C);
B. Declare that the use of USEPA’s TST and assocratstiods and procedures va
ab initio, and invalid as contrary to CWA requirements aedaose USEPA failed to act to
include the TST in recent rulemakings in 2012 a@#i72 and declare that all actions taken by |

USEPA or others in reliance upon USEPA'’s guidargmrding the invalid TST in contraventid
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of the CWA and its promulgated methods and pro@slare void and shall have no legal forc

or effect;

C. Declare that any test results based oruttra viresTST and associated methods

and procedures, which were previously incorporatedlNPDES permits, are void and no
enforcement actions can be taken for any previalations of effluent limitations, permit
provisions, or monitoring requirements based orutiromulgated TST;

D. Order that USEPA and its officers, employees, agehts, are enjoined from
using, mandating, or encouraging the use ofittva viresTST, or allowing, approving, or
authorizing States to use the TST, and are enjdnoed the use of analytical results obtained
through non-promulgated procedures and methodSR®ES toxicity compliance determinatig
or other Clean Water Act purposes unless and thhatde procedures and methods are properl
and formally promulgated as rules;

E. Award Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees andtsancurred in the prosecutior

of this action; and

F. Grant such other and further relief as this Coednds just and proper.
DATED: April 6, 201¢ DOWNEY BRAND LLP
By:

MELISSA A. THORME

Attorney for Plaintiffs,

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA ALLIANCE OF
PUBLICLY OWNED TREATMENT WORKS,
CENTRAL VALLEY CLEAN WATER
ASSOCIATION, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
OF CLEAN WATER AGENCIES, and

BAY AREA CLEAN WATER AGENCIES
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